#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**BLERK, SUPREME COURT** 

FEB 23 1993

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No.: 81,119

VINNIE TRIPP,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GYPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0797200

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

####

## Preliminary Statement

Petitioner, the State of Florida, respondent in the case below and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referred to in this brief as the state. Respondent, VINNIE TRIPP, petitioner in the case below and defendant in the trial court, will be referred to in this brief as respondent. References to the opinion of the First District contained in the attached appendix will be noted by the symbol "A," and references to the record on appeal will be noted by the symbol "R." All references will be followed by the appropriate volume and page number(s) in parentheses.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state seeks review of the decision of the First District in which that court certified the following question of great public importance to this Court:

> DOES THE ABSENCE OF A SPECIFIC FINDING BY THE JURY ON THE VERDICT FORM THAT THE CARRIED, DISPLAYED, DEFENDANT EITHER USED, ETC. ANY WEAPON OR FIREARM OR THAT AGGRAVATED BATTERY COMMITTED AN ΗE FELONY COMMISSION OF THE DURING THE SUBJECT TO BEING RECLASSIFIED PRECLUDE EXECUTION OF THE MANDATORY LANGUAGE OF 775.087(1) WHICH REOUIRES THE RECLASSIFICATION OF OFFENSES UNDER CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES?

(A 6).

charged respondent by second amended The state information with attempted first degree murder during the commission of robbery and during the course of which he "did carry, display, use, threaten, or attempt to use a weapon, to-wit: a claw hammer or did commit an aggravated battery," aggravated battery during the course of which a deadly weapon was used, and attempted robbery during the course of which a deadly weapon was used (R 603). The jury found quilty of attempted first degree murder, respondent aggravated battery with a deadly weapon, and attempted robbery with a deadly weapon (R 839). The trial court adjudicated respondent guilty of attempted first degree murder, aggravated battery, and attempted robbery, and imposed an upward departure sentence of concurrent terms of life imprisonment, 15 years, and 5 years, respectively (R 896-904). In so sentencing, the trial court reclassified the attempted first degree murder count, a first degree felony, to a life felony pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 775.087(1)(a) (1987), based on respondent's use of a deadly weapon (R 904).

Respondent direct appealed to the First District Court of Appeal, raising as one of ten issues the reclassification of the attempted first degree murder count. The First District Court of Appeal issued its opinion on December 22, 1992, affirming respondent's convictions, but reversing his sentences (A 1). The First District reversed respondent's sentence for attempted first degree murder because, although charging document and evidence adduced at trial supported a determination that both a weapon was used and an aggravated battery was committed during the commission of attempted first degree murder, the verdict form contained no specific jury finding that respondent used a deadly weapon or committed an aggravated battery during the commission of attempted first degree murder, thereby precluding reclassification under section 775.087 (A 3-5).

In reversing respondent's sentence for attempted first degree murder, the First District reviewed this Court's decision in <u>State v. Overfe</u>lt, 457 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 1984),

- 3 -

and decisions from other district courts of appeal, all of which held that the jury must make a specific finding for reclassification (A 4-5). However, because the First District found that the instant case presented a different factual scenario, i.e., the charging document and evidence supported a determination that a weapon was used and an aggravated battery was committed during the commission of attempted first degree murder, it certified a question of great public importance to this Court (A 6).

The First District issued mandate on January 7, 1993, and the state filed its notice to invoke this Court's jurisdiction on January 21, 1993. On January 29, 1993, this Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction and ordered the state's brief on the merits to be served by February 23, 1993. The state moved this Court to recall the mandate issued in this case. This Court granted this motion on February 3, 1993. This brief on the merits follows.

- 4 -

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The certified question as rephrased by the state must be answered negatively. Based on the different factual scenario of the instant case -- the information clearly charged respondent with a crime during which he used a weapon, and the evidence led to the inescapable conclusion that respondent in fact used a weapon during the commission of this crime -- <u>Overfelt</u> should be reexamined and limited to its facts.

#### ARGUMENT

#### Issue

DOES THE ABSENCE OF A SPECIFIC FINDING BY THE JURY ON THE VERDICT FORM THAT THE EITHER DEFENDANT CARRIED, DISPLAYED, USED, ETC. ANY WEAPON OR FIREARM OR THAT AGGRAVATED COMMITTED AN BATTERY ΗE COMMISSION  $\mathbf{OF}$ THE FELONY DURING THESUBJECT TO BEING RECLASSIFIED PRECLUDE EXECUTION OF THE MANDATORY LANGUAGE OF REQUIRES WHICH THE 775.087(1) OF OFFENSES UNDER RECLASSIFICATION CIRCUMSTANCES, WHERE THE CERTAIN CHARGED THE INFORMATION CLEARLY DEFENDANT WITH A CRIME DURING WHICH HE USED A WEAPON AND THE EVIDENCE LED TO THE INESCAPABLE CONCLUSION THAT HE USED A WEAPON DURING THE COMMISSION OF THE CRIME?

The state respectfully submits that the question as certified by the First District is somewhat broad, and that the answer to the certified question as rephrased above must be unequivocally negative.

In <u>State v. Overfelt</u>, 457 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 1984), Overfelt was charged with, among other crimes, two counts of attempted first degree murder. The jury found Overfelt guilty of the lesser included offense of attempted third degree murder on one count and aggravated assault on the other. The trial court reclassified the crime of attempted third degree murder as a third degree felony, pursuant to section 775.087(1), and applied the three year minimum mandatory sentencing provision of section 775.087(2). On those facts, this Court held that the trial court could not enhance the sentence or impose mandatory sentencing unless the jury made a specific finding that Overfelt committed the crime while using a firearm, either by finding Overfelt guilty of a crime which involves the use of a firearm or by answering a specific question of a special verdict form so indicating. This Court reasoned:

> guestion of whether an accused The actually possessed a firearm while committing a felony is a factual matter properly decided by the jury. Although a trial judge may make certain findings matters not associated with the on rendering episode when a criminal sentence, it is the jury's function to be the finder of fact with regard to matters concerning the criminal episode. To allow a judge to find that an accused actually possessed a firearm while committing a felony in order to apply the enhancement or mandatory sentencing provisions of section 775.087 would be an invasion of the jury's historical function and could lead to a miscarriage of justice in cases where the defendant was charged with but not convicted of a crime involving a firearm.

Id. at 1387 (emphasis supplied).

In <u>Overfelt</u>, this Court had before it only the specific situation where the defendant was convicted of a lesser included offense, one which did not involve the use of a weapon. Thus, <u>Overfelt</u> did not address the instant factual scenario, where respondent was found guilty as charged of attempted first degree murder, the information clearly charged that this offense was committed with a deadly weapon, and the evidence showed that this offense was committed with the use of a deadly weapon.

Further, as shown in the above underlined portion of <u>Overfelt</u>, this Court was obviously concerned with the possibility that a defendant might receive an enhanced sentence or mandatory sentencing when the evidence did not support the conclusion that a weapon was used. Here, however, this concern is unwarranted, as there is no question that respondent used a deadly weapon -- a claw hammer -- to commit the charged offense.

Similarly, in Tindall v. State, 443 So.2d 362 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), Tindall was charged with first degree murder, the facts unequivocally showing that he killed the victim with a The jury found Tindall guilty of second degree rifle. murder, but made no specific finding in its verdict that a firearm was used. The Fifth District concluded that, where a defendant is charged with a crime which requires the possession of a firearm to commit the crime, or the proof leads to the inescapable conclusion that the defendant possessed a firearm during the commission of the crime, the jury need only find the defendant guilty of the charged crime, or of a lesser included offense which also has the requisite allegations and proof to substantiate it, in order for the trial court to impose the mandatory sentencing provisions of section 775.087(2). Although the Overfelt

Court cited to <u>Tindall</u>, it did not disapprove it. Thus, <u>Overfelt</u> appears to have left unanswered the question of whether a trial court may avail itself of section 775.087, despite no special jury finding, when the evidence indisputably shows that a weapon was used.

Nevertheless, decisions after <u>Overfelt</u> have applied its holding routinely, even where the evidence is undisputed that a weapon was used during the commission of charged crimes. <u>See Chapman v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 431 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). Such decisions seem contrary to both common sense logic and <u>Overfelt</u>. If the evidence is undisputed that a weapon was used, it is clear that a jury verdict, with or without a special finding, will be based on the fact that a weapon was used. To preclude a trial court from utilizing the provisions of section 775.087 in such a case, simply because the jury did not write out that a defendant was guilty of the charged offense <u>and</u> used a weapon, would constitute the ultimate placing of form over substance.

Thus, it appears the time has come to review <u>Overfelt</u>. Does it apply as routinely as <u>Chapman</u> would have us believe, or is <u>Overfelt</u> properly limited to the situation where a defendant is convicted of a lesser included offense which does not involve the use of a weapon? The answer must be that <u>Overfelt</u> is limited to its facts. Otherwise, the Court would have soundly disapproved <u>Tillman</u> in text. In any event, section 775.087(1) applies in two separate contexts -- when a person is charged with a felony and during the commission of this felony either (1) carries, displays, uses, threatens, or attempts to use any weapon, OR (2) commits an aggravated battery. In this case, the information clearly charged respondent with

> unlawfully f[orming] a premeditated design to effect the death of a human being, . . . or while engaged in the perpetration of or in an attempt to perpetrate a . . robbery[,] did attempt to kill and murder said Mary Harrell by hitting the victim in the head with a claw hammer, and in the course of said crime did carry, display, use, threaten, or attempt to use a weapon . . or <u>did commit an aggravated</u> battery . . .

(R 603). The information clearly invoked both parts of the statute. Thus, even if this Court were to hold that the jury had to make a specific finding regarding a weapon for reclassification under that statutory provision, the trial court still could have reclassified the offense pursuant to the aggravated battery provision, <sup>1</sup> which case law does not

<sup>1</sup> In the First District, respondent made much of the fact that the prosecutor appeared to rely on the deadly weapon provision of section 775.087, based on his notation on the scoresheet next the charge of attempted first degree murder -- "(deadly weap.)" (R 904). Such a notation makes no difference in the analysis of this issue, however, because (1) sentencing was within the trial court's discretion, and (2) the information properly charged respondent under both statutory provisions, and the evidence supported both.

construe to require a special finding. If this Court, however, were to hold that a special finding is required for aggravated battery as well, here, where the jury convicted respondent under count two for aggravated battery with a deadly weapon, such a finding appears to exist.

## CONCLUSION

Based on the above cited legal authorities and arguments, the state respectfully requests this Honorable Court to answer the certified question as rephrased by the state in the negative.