IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner/
Cross-Respondent,

V.

VINNEY TRIPP,

Respondent/
Cross-Petitioner.

)

CASE NO. 81,119

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAR 23 1993

BLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS-PETITIONER

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GLEN P. GIFFORD ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR #0664261 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT/ CROSS-PETITIONER

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

PROSECUTOR: You knew his reputation? WITNESS: Right.

(R341) Defense counsel immediately objected and moved for a mistrial. The state asserted the question and answer were relevant to rebut implied contentions in cross-examination that Roberson had fabricated the disclosure and that an innocent man might also make threats. (R341) The court agreed that the question was wholly without foundation and gave an instruction to disregard, but denied the motion for mistrial. (R341-342)

The question and answer were egregiously improper. They carried no relevance and rebutted nothing, yet suggested to the jury that Tripp had a reputation for violence. In a prosecution for three crimes of violence, the exchange was so prejudicial that a curative instruction could have little effect. Mistrial was the only real remedy.

Section 90.404, Florida Statutes, governs admissibility of character evidence. Section 90.404(2)(a) provides for admission of a pertinent character trait offered by an accused, or by the prosecution to rebut that trait. Here, aside from the total lack

of an evidentiary foundation for the question about Tripp's reputation, he had not placed his character in issue. Unless a defendant places his character in issue, it may not be attacked by the state. Von Carter v. State, 468 So.2d 276, 278 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). In Long v. State, 407 So.2d 1018 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), a petit theft prosecution, the state elicited testimony characterizing the defendant as a shoplifting suspect. The appellate court reversed, finding the testimony a clear violation of the Williams 2 Rule, on which section 90.404(2) is modeled. The court added that there was no proof Long had committed any previous thefts. Id. at 1019. Here, similarly, the question and answer concerning reputation, suggesting Tripp had a violent character, characterized him as the type of person who could commit crimes of violence such as those charged. As in Long, there was no admissible evidence of prior crimes of violence to serve as a foundation for such reputation evidence. In this prosecution, in which the jury's emotions could easily have been aroused by the circumstances of the crime, the question and answer were much more prejudicial than in Long.

Appellate precedent holds that threats by the defendant against witnesses are admissible to prove guilt. See, e.g.,

Manuel v. State, 524 So.2d 734, 735 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

Presumably, the rationale is that an innocent man need make no threat to keep the truth from coming out, though this assumes a

²Williams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959).

witness is telling the truth. By what logic does a threat against a witness who may have fabricated the incriminating evidence show the guilty knowledge of the accused? Even if it can be said that the threat is probative of quilty knowledge, perception of ability to carry out the threat is not. Thus, the state's assertion that the evidence rebuts the defense implication that an innocent man might also make threats is irrational. The sole possible basis for its admission lies in its effect on the witness. Hence flows the state's second assertion, that the question and answer on reputation rebutted the implication that the witness made up his testimony. likely theory here is that Roberson was acting against his interest in testifying against a man he believed could cause him In fact, the defense showed that Roberson could have gained his knowledge of the case from television coverage, and that he became an informant to curry favor from the state on pending charges. Any rehabilitation of the witness stemming from this impeachment was necessarily limited to his exposure to the coverage and the disposition of his charges. Thus, the question on reputation was not rehabilitation but insinuation wholly unrelated to cross-examination. In effect, the state was attempting to enhance the credibility of its own witness. Evidence Code permits support of the credibility of one's witness in only one manner, reputation for truthfulness. S. 90.609, Fla. Stat. (1989). General credibility vouching is forbidden.

For these reasons, the question and answer suggesting that Tripp had a reputation for violence caused error of tremendous magnitude. The court's attempt at a curative instruction was inadequate to allay the prejudice and confusion of issues already embedded in the juror's minds. The exchange so fundamentally tainted the proceedings that a curative instruction could be of no effect. See Coleman v. State, 420 So.2d 354, 356 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). Moreover, a thorough curative instruction includes a statement conveying to the jury the gross impropriety of the remark. No rebuke was given here. See Jones v. State, 571 So.2d 1374, 1376 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (firm rebuke to prosecutor as well as admonition to jury to disregard remark is necessary to neutralize harmful effect). Harmful, reversible error resulted.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE PRIOR TESTIMONY OF AN ABSENT STATE WITNESS, AND IN REFUSING TO ADMIT EVIDENCE OF CONVICTIONS AND SENTENCES IMPOSED ON THE WITNESS AFTER THE TESTIMONY.

The state successfully sought to introduce testimony given by jailhouse informant Steven Bittner in Tripp's second trial. (R343) Earlier, the prosecutor and his investigator detailed efforts to locate Bittner, who had received a subpoena, and was believed to be in Pensacola. (R270-273) The state asserted that its efforts met the requirements of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.640(b), and equated the requirement that the witness be out of state in that provision with the more general unavailability requirement of section 90.804(1)(e), Florida Statutes. (R349-350) Defense counsel objected, and noted that Bittner had received a lenient disposition of charges pending at the time of his testimony and had subsequently been convicted of

additional charges. (R345-347, 351) Counsel asserted the right to introduce evidence of disposition of both cases if the court admitted Bittner's prior testimony. (R345-347) Counsel also stated that if Bittner had appeared for this trial, he would have questioned him on the prospect of contempt charges if he had failed to appear and possible perjury charges if he had changed his testimony. (R350) The court disallowed any evidence of the subsequent convictions, and Bittner's September, 1989 testimony was read to the jury. (R351) The state located Bittner just before the defense rested, and defense counsel moved to have the state reopen its case so he could testify. (R513) Later, facing contempt charges, Bittner first said he forgot his court date, then after several days in jail, said he also feared reprisals had he testified. (R585-597, 862-871) He said he had been threatened by acquaintances of Tripp. (R863)

The court made several erroneous rulings. First, it erred in allowing the prior testimony after the state made no showing that Bittner was absent from the state. As subsequent events showed, he was not. The criminal procedural rule requiring proof of absence from the state to admit testimony from a prior mistrial is independent of the general unavailability requirement of the hearsay rule. Even if the standard is the same, the hearsay rule requires opportunity and similar motive for effective cross-examination as at the instant trial, impossible here because of events subsequent to the earlier testimony. Thus, Tripp was denied his Sixth Amendment right to confrontation of adverse witnesses. At the very least, the trial court denied

confrontation and due process rights in precluding defense counsel from introducing evidence of the subsequent convictions, its second error. Finally, it erred again in refusing to allow Bittner's live testimony when he appeared before the case was submitted to the jury. This would have remedied the earlier errors.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.640(b) governs admissibility of prior trial testimony when a new trial is granted. The provision reads, in pertinent part:

The testimony given during the former trial may not be read in evidence at the new trial unless it is that of a witness who at the time of the new trial is absent from the State, mentally incompetent to be a witness, physically unable to appear and testify, or dead, in which event the evidence of such witness on the former trial may be read in evidence at the new trial as the same was taken and transcribed by the court reporter.

In contrast, the showing required to admit former testimony under section 90.804(2)(a) as an exception to the hearsay rule is as follows:

- (1) "Unavailability as a witness" means that the declarant:
- (e) Is absent from the hearing, and the proponent of his statement has been unable to procure his attendance or testimony by process or other reasonable means.

Rule 3.640(b) requires absence from the state, while section 90.804 requires only an inability to find the witness. In construing court rules, principles of statutory construction apply. Rowe v. State, 394 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). The same principle of strict construction governing the Florida Criminal Code under section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes, thus

also applies to the Rules of Criminal Procedure. Where the language of either a statute or rule is plain and unambiguous, a plain and ordinary meaning must be ascribed to it. Rowe, 394 So.2d at 1059. Provisions relating to the same subject matter should be construed with reference to each other so that effect may be given to all the provisions of each if this can be done by any fair and reasonable construction. State v. Hayles, 240 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1970).

These principles dictate that Rule 3.640(b) be construed to mean just what it says, that in order to admit prior trial testimony following a mistrial, the witness must be out of state. A contrary reading violates the principle of strict construction, denies the rule its plain and ordinary meaning, and robs it of content independent of the hearsay rule. Rule 3.640 was drafted to cover a specific scenario, and serves a policy of upholding the right of an accused to confront adverse witnesses if forced to undergo a second trial unless certain conditions are met. Section 90.804 concerns only the hearsay aspect of admission of prior testimony, not necessarily trial testimony. If held to the terms of both provisions by the party opposing admission, the party seeking to admit prior testimony following the grant of a new trial must clear the requirements of section 90.804 and Rule 3.640. In such circumstances, the provisions operate in conjunction with one another, and are not in conflict. Here, the state did not show Bittner was out of state, only that he was absent and could not be located to testify in the state's case. His appearance before closing argument and subsequent testimony

in the contempt proceedings show that he was not only in state, but in town. The court should have barred admission of his prior testimony because the state made an insufficient showing under Rule 3.640.

The court further erred in refusing to allow the defense to put in evidence Bittner's convictions and sanctions imposed after his testimony in the second trial. Section 90.804(2)(a) provides for admission of prior testimony if the party against whom the testimony is offered "had an opportunity and similar motive to develop the testimony by direct, cross or redirect examination." This requirement ostensibly serves the requirement of the confrontation clause that the prior examination serve as an effective substitute for cross-examination at trial. generally, California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149 (1970). prior cross-examination was not an effective substitute, for it failed to demonstrate the favorable disposition of pending charges for Bittner's testimony, his subsequent conviction on new charges, and the prospect of contempt and perjury charges if he failed to appear at the third trial and testify consistently with his earlier testimony. Exploration of these areas would have constituted substantial impeachment, expressly provided for in section 90.608, Florida Statutes (bias) and section 90.610 (prior convictions). At the very least, the court should have allowed the defense to introduce evidence of the subsequent convictions and punishments. Section 90.610 allows a party to attack the credibility of a witness "by evidence that the witness has been convicted of a crime." At the time of this trial, Bittner had

been convicted of crimes which the trial court barred Tripp from exposing to the jury as a measure of his credibility. Section 90.610 does not expressly limit introduction of prior convictions to those in existence at the time the testimony is taken.

A federal court has noted that in requiring only an opportunity and motivation under the federal counterpart to Florida Rule 90.804, the rule also incorporates a concept of fairness. United States v. Pizarro, 717 F.2d 336, 349 (7th Cir. 1983). Tripp was deprived of the fairness required by the provision, and by the confrontation clause implicated therein. Additionally, the denial of defense counsel's request to introduce evidence of the subsequent convictions and sentences deprived Tripp his Fifth Amendment right to present material, exculpatory evidence. See generally, Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973).

The trial court eschewed an opportunity to correct its error by putting Bittner on the stand when the state located him before closing arguments. The defense expressly requested this step, and stated it would not object to the state's reopening its case. (R513) At that time, the case had not been submitted to the jury, so the court could have granted the request without violating Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.430.

For these reasons, admission of Bittner's prior trial testimony violated Tripp's right to due process of law and confrontation of adverse witnesses, in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution as well as Article I, Sections 9 and 16 of the Florida Constitution. The error was not

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The state's case rested on the dubious identification testimony of two eyewitnesses, see Point III, infra, and the testimony of jailhouse informants Roberson and Bittner that Tripp had admitted committing the The defense also presented a jailhouse informant, who suggested Roberson fabricated his testimony to help his own cause after being exposed to television coverage of the case. The jurors evidently attached some significance to Bittner's testimony, for they asked to receive it again. (R582) Even assuming his live testimony would have matched his testimony at the second trial, the matters defense counsel was precluded from presenting via cross-examination or introduction of evidence would have placed his credibility on an even more tenuous footing. Under these circumstances, the state cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129, 1123 (Fla. 1986).

V. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING ADJUDICATION AND SENTENCE FOR AGGRAVATED BATTERY, AN OFFENSE REQUIRING IDENTICAL ELEMENTS OF PROOF AS ATTEMPTED FIRST-DEGREE MURDER.

On several occasions, defense counsel moved to dismiss count II, aggravated battery, as duplicative of the charges of attempted first-degree murder and attempted robbery with a deadly weapon, counts I and III. The court initially took the motion under advisement, then denied it at the sentencing hearing.

(R883-888) The jury found Tripp guilty of attempted first-degree murder, aggravated battery with a deadly weapon and causing great

bodily harm, and attempted robbery with a deadly weapon. (R839)
On Count II, the information had charged only a battery plus use
of a deadly weapon, omitting the alternative element of great
bodily harm. (R599) The evidence at trial showed that the
assailant hit the victim several times with a hammer, then hit
her several more times in evident frustration over his failure to
open the cash register.

Section 775.021(4)(a), Florida Statutes, provides as follows:

Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, commits an act or acts which constitute one or more separate criminal offenses, upon conviction and adjudication of guilt, shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense; and the sentencing judge may order the sentences to be served concurrently or consecutively. For the purposes of this subsection, offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleading at trial.

This provision, unchanged in the 1988 amendment which added subsection (4)(b), is a rule of construction calling for separate judgments and sentences for all criminal offenses committed in an episode or transaction, whether from a single act or several acts. In Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), construed this rule in conjunction with the rule of lenity codified in section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes, which commands a construction of statutory language susceptible of different interpretations most favorably to the accused. The Court concluded that the two offenses in question there, attempted manslaughter and aggravated battery, essentially address the same evil. Id. at 170. The Court found that the offenses stemmed

from a single act, and emphasized the difference between act and transaction. <u>Id</u>., n.8. Finding no evidence the legislature intended multiple punishments under those circumstances, the court concluded that multiple punishments were not intended and ordered one of the convictions vacated. Id. at 170-171.

In response to <u>Carawan</u>, the Legislature added subsection (4)(b) to Section 775.021. Ch. 88-131, S.7, Laws of Florida. The new provision reads:

The intent of the Legislature is to convict and sentence for each criminal offense committed in the course of one criminal episode or transaction and not to allow the principle of lenity as set forth in subsection (1) to determine legislative intent. Exception to this rule of construction are:

- 1. Offenses which require identical elements of proof.
- 2. Offenses which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute.
- 3. Offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense.

In <u>Smith v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989), this Court held that the amendment abrogated <u>Carawan</u>.

The aggravated battery conviction falls under one of the two exceptions to the presumption in favor of multiple convictions. Under section 775.021(4)(b)1, the aggravated battery and attempted murder required identical elements of proof. In making this determination, one must necessarily look to the accusatory pleading, and if necessary to the evidence at trial as well. If the examination were limited to the statutory elements, subpart 1 would have no application independent of subparts 2 or 3, which require statutory analysis. An offense which under the statute

requires elements of proof identical to another offense will always be either a lesser included offense (subpart 2) or an offense in which the statutory elements are subsumed within those of the other (subpart 3).

The Court may have been on the same track in Cave v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S104 (Feb. 4, 1993), in holding that aggravated battery was not a lesser included offense of armed robbery because the language of the count charging armed robbery did not contain all the elements of aggravated battery. Or, the majority may have been following the analysis of Justice Kogan, who reads section 775.021(4)(b)3 to preclude conviction for offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense as it is charged, not as it appears in the statute. Id. at S105 (Kogan, J., concurring specially). To give effect to both section 775.021(4)(b)1 and 3, one of these interpretations must carry the day. Provisions relating to the same subject matter should be construed with reference to one another so that effect may be given to all the provisions of each if this can be done by any fair and reasonable construction. State v. Hayles, 240 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1970). To quote Justice Kogan, "we certainly should not presume that the legislature created an exception that is an exception to nothing." Cave, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at S105.

Under either view, the aggravated battery in Count II must fall. Here, the state charged attempted murder by striking the victim with a hammer, and aggravated battery, an intentional touch or strike or infliction of bodily harm, by use of a deadly weapon, i.e., the same blow. Thus, aggravated battery required

identical elements of proof as attempted murder, triggering section 775.021(4)(b)1, or contains statutory elements wholly subsumed by the the attempted murder, invoking section 775.021(4)(b)3. In either event, the aggravated battery conviction must be reversed, the sentence vacated, and the scoresheet recalculated to determine a new sentencing range.

VI. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN COMMENTING ON THE TRUTHFULNESS OF THE ALLEGATIONS MADE IN A MOTION TO DISQUALIFY HIM.

Over defense objection to the absence of a pre-sentence investigation report, the trial judge sentenced Tripp and committed him to the custody of the Department of Corrections on March 18, 1991. (R883-893) The court entered an order vacating the judgments and sentences on April 17, and scheduled a new sentencing hearing for May 1. (R906) On May 1, defense counsel filed a motion to disqualify the judge. (R907-908) The motion included affidavits by Tripp and his counsel, both dated April 30. (R909-911) During the May 1st hearing, the state asserted that the motion was untimely. (R913-914) In ruling on the motion, Judge Tarbuck said:

Now, with regard to the comment made by the Court to defense counsel when defense counsel said that there may be some plea agreement, I probably did say that. In fact, I recall saying you can make a plea agreement but it's going to have to be for a substantial period of time in light of this man's prior criminal record and in light of the brutality involved in the commission of this crime. I do not see that that's prejudicial in any way, nor have I prejudged the case. And I realize that while you may have made allegations and I'm not entitled to respond to those, I feel like the affidavit and also

the motion is just made strictly to obtain another sentencing judge in this case in hopes of obtaining a more lenient type sentence. Also, I'm going to rely on the State's representation that this motion to disqualify me is untimely filed. Deny the motion and proceed with resentencing.

(R915).

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.230, governing disqualification of a judge, provides in part (d) that the judge shall examine the motion and supporting affidavits solely to determine legal sufficiency, "but shall not pass on the truth of the facts alleged not adjudicate the question of disqualification." In adding an explanation of events and denying allegations of a motion to disqualify, a trial judge violates this provision, necessitating reversal of the order denying recusal. Haggerty v. State, 531 So.2d 364, 365 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). Accord, Taylor v. State, 557 So.2d 138, 142 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (if judge passes on truth of allegations in motion, denial must be reversed even where the motion is legally insufficient).

Judge Tarbuck erred in passing upon the truth of the allegations. Although he did not brand them as false, in opining that the motion was "just made strictly" to obtain another sentencing judge, he effectively disputed the allegations that his comment during plea negotiations and subsequent cancellation of the pre-sentence investigation demonstrated his prejudice against Tripp. His actions went beyond those of the judge in Nansetta v. Kaplan, 557 So.2d 919 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), who merely defended himself. Judge Tarbuck made a counterattack. In these circumstances, Haggerty, Taylor and related cases require

reversal of the denial of the motion to disqualify. Accordingly, Tripp's sentences must be vacated.

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